State of Wisconsin Court of Appeals District 1 Appeal No. 2016AP000005

RECEIVED

03-21-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

In re the commitment of Kenneth William Jaworski

State of Wisconsin,

Petitioner-Respondent,

٧.

Kenneth William Jaworski,

Respondent-Appellant.

On appeal from a judgment of the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Timothy Witkowiak and The Honorable Dennis Cimpl, presiding

Respondent-Appellant's Brief and Appendix

Law Offices of Jeffrey W. Jensen 735 W. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1200 Milwaukee, WI 53233

414.671.9484

Attorneys for the Appellant

Statement of the Issue

I. Whether the circuit court erred in denying Jaworski's postjudgment motion, without an evidentiary hearing, where Jaworski made a conclusory allegation that the Department of Corrections deliberately manipulated his release date from prison so as to give the state additional time to file a petition under Chapter 980; and then substantiated that conclusory allegation with factual allegations that the "recalculation" was done as Jaworski neared the end of his sentence, that the recalculation was done contrary to the DOC's own policy, and that the DOC ignored Jaworski's objections to the recalculation.

Answered by the circuit court: The circuit court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing. The judge acknowledged that the motion alleged that the DOC deliberately miscalculated Jaworski's release date in order to manipulate the deadline for filing the Chapter 980 petition, but, according to the circuit judge, the motion does not, "[G]ive me any-- any

reason to believe that allegation, and that's what I need. I need some reason to believe that allegation."

Summary of the Argument

This case involves a Sexually Violent Person petition that pended against Jaworski for some eight years. For much of that time, Jaworski filed various pleadings with the circuit court, and also with the appellate courts, alleging that the Department of Corrections (DOC) deliberately miscalculated his release date in order to manipulate the time for filing the SVP petition. For the most part relying on *State v. Virlee*, the circuit court never conducted an evidentiary hearing into Jaworski's claim.

Finally, in a postjudgment motion, Jaworski made the specific conclusory allegation that the DOC, in bad faith, miscalculated his release date in order to manipulate the time for filing the SVP petition. Jaworski's motion further alleged various facts to support the conclusory allegation. He claimed that the recalculation was done near the end of his sentence, which He made timing suspect. alleged that the "miscalculation" was not a math error, but done contrary to the DOC's own policy. Finally, Jaworski alleged that the DOC ignored his objections to the recalculation. Taken together, these specific factual allegations are sufficient to support the conclusory allegation that the DOC acted in bad faith.

Nonetheless, the circuit court denied Jaworski's postjudgment motion without conducting an evidentiary hearing, reasoning the allegations of the motion do not give the court any reason to believe that Jaworski's claim that the DOC acted in bad faith is true.

As will be set forth in more detail below, the supporting factual allegations are sufficient to support the conclusory allegation that the DOC acted in bad faith.

Statement of the Case¹

On March 24, 2006, the state filed a petition alleging that the respondent-appellant, Kenneth Jaworski (hereinafter "Jaworski") was a sexually violent person ('SVP") under Chapter 980, Stats. (R:3) Probable cause was found. Jaworski denied the allegations of the petition, and he demanded a jury trial.

On May 20, 2008, Jaworski filed a motion to dismiss the SVP petition, alleging that the Department of Corrections had miscalculated his release date from prison, and that by the time the SVP petition was filed, he had actually passed his mandatory release date. (R:21)² Thus, according to Jaworski, the SVP petition was untimely filed. In his various filings, the

¹ The issue on this appeal is primarily procedural. Thus, the brief will not set forth a separate statement of the facts. The facts, as necessary for an understanding of the issue, will be set forth as needed.

² § 980.02(1m) currently provides that a sexually violent person petition must be filed before the person is released from prison.

theme developed that the DOC had deliberately miscalculated Jaworski's release date in order to manipulate the time for filing the SVP petition.

On June 5, 2008, the circuit court denied Jaworski's motion to dismiss. (R:184-5, 6) According to the circuit judge, regardless of whether Jaworski's release date miscalculated, in deciding when to file the SVP petition, the state has the right to rely upon the release date that was actually set. Nevertheless, on June 23, 2008, the prosecutor informed the court that she had obtained a letter from Carole Briones, the person who was responsible for calculating Jaworski's release date, confirming that the DOC did, in fact, miscalculate Jaworski's release date. (R:185-3) The error resulted in Jaworski being held in prison longer than he should have been. Thus, it was true that Jaworski should have been released prior to the filing of the SVP petition.

Jaworski sought leave to appeal this non-final order, which was denied by the court of appeals. Later, Jaworski petitioned the court of appeals for *habeas corpus* relief, raising the same issue. On April 22, 2009, the court of appeals denied the petition (R:43). Significantly, though, the court of appeals wrote that, "Jaworski's petition raises numerous factual issues that this court cannot resolve. (internal citation omitted) (appellate court is constitutionally precluded from finding facts). Consequently, the basic premises of Jaworski's petition

requires fact-finding in the circuit court." 3

Jaworski continued in his attempts to have the court schedule the issue for an evidentiary hearing, but no hearing was ever conducted.

Ultimately, Jaworski waived his right to a jury trial (R:147), and the matter proceeded to a bench trial beginning on April 7, 2014. By this time, Jaworski was proceeding *pro se* with standby counsel. After two days of testimony, the court found that the State had proved that Jaworski was a sexually violent person, and ordered him committed for treatment. (R:149)

During trial, Jaworski sought to call Carol Briones⁴ as a witness. Jaworski told the court, though, that he was unable to subpoena her for trial. Attempts were made to have Briones testify by telephone, but the judge indicated that the clerk had received a message that Briones was not available to testify by telephone either. (Tran. 4-7-14 p.m. p. 115). Significantly, though, the circuit court ruled:

The problem is that you can't bring up, I should have been released earlier. That's not relevant based upon these two decisions now . . .

So the testimony of Ms. Briones I don't know would be relevant to the hearing anyway, because what I'm hearing from you is your concern was that she calculated that you should have

³ Jaworski attempted to employ other means of seeking appellate review of this decision. For the sake of clarity, those means will not be set forth. Jaworski also attempted to raise the issue again before the circuit court. Again, for sake of clarity, it is sufficient to indicate that the circuit court continued to deny Jaworski's motion.

⁴ Recall that Briones was the employee of the DOC who wrote a letter to the court documenting the fact that Jaworski's release date was improperly calculated, and that the Department's own procedures were not followed.

been released earlier. That's not relevant.

(Tran. 4-7-14 p. 118). Thus, Jaworski was again thwarted in his effort to create a factual basis for his claim.

On June 3, 2014, Jaworski-- still proceeding *pro se*-- filed a notice of appeal, which was ultimately construed by the court of appeals to be a notice of intent to pursue post-judgment relief. (R:150)⁵ Jaworski sought, and was appointed, counsel for post-judgment and appellate proceedings.

On November 2, 2015, Jaworski filed a postjudgment motion seeking a due process hearing into his claim that the state deliberately manipulated his release date in order to allow more time to file a SVP petition. (R:166; Appendix B). In sum, Jaworski alleged that he had been continuously asserting this issue throughout the course of the proceedings, but that the court had never conducted an evidentiary hearing to resolve Jaworski's factual claims. This, Jaworski pointed out, was despite the fact that the court of appeals had noted in its order denying his petition for *habeas corpus* that a factual basis is necessary in order to decide Jaworski's claim.

The state filed no written response to Jaworski's motion.

The circuit court set the postjudgment motion for a scheduling hearing on December 10, 2015. At this hearing, the State orally asserted that Jaworski's postjudgment motion failed to allege sufficient facts to warrant an evidentiary hearing, and,

8

_

⁵ By order dated July 9, 2014, the court of appeals dismissed the appeal, and ordered that the notice of appeal be considered a notice of intent to pursue post-judgment relief.

therefore, moved to deny the motion without hearing. (Tran. 12-10-15, pp. 2, 3; Appendix C) Jaworski objected to the court ruling on the State's motion without granting Jaworski time to respond to the State's oral request. The court denied this request. *Id.*

Thereafter, the court ruled:

[Y]our motion doesn't give me allegations to pass the smell test. I mean, you make allegations that they deliberately miscalculated his release date in order to manipulate the deadline for filing a Chapter 980 petition, but you don't give me any-- any reason to believe that allegation, and that's what I need. I need some reason to believe that allegations. So if you haven't got any reason, I'm going to deny your motion.

(Tran. 12-10-15 p. 4; Appendix C)

Argument

I. The circuit court erred in denying Jaworski's postjudgment motion without an evidentiary hearing because the motion alleged sufficient detailed facts which, if true, would support the conclusory allegation the DOC acted in bad faith when it recalculated Jaworski's release date.

Jaworski's postjudgment motion alleged that the DOC in bad faith miscalculated his release date so as to manipulate the time for filing the SVP petition. Jaworski supported that conclusory allegation with specific factual allegations that the time of the recalculation was suspect, the recalculation was done contrary to the DOC's own policy, and the DOC ignored Jaworski's objections to the recalculation. Taken together, these specific factual allegations are more than sufficient to obligate the circuit court to conduct an evidentiary hearing.

A. Standard of appellate review.

The standard for resolving Jaworski's claim that the circuit court improperly denied his postjudgment motion without conducting an evidentiary hearing is set forth in *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, P9, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433:

Whether a defendant's postconviction motion alleges sufficient facts to entitle the defendant to a hearing for the relief requested is a mixed standard of review. First, we determine whether the motion on its face alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief. This is a question of law that we review de novo. [State v.] Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 309-10, 548 N.W.2d 50. [682 N.W.2d 433 (1996)] If the motion raises such facts, the circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing. Id. at 310; Nelson v. State, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972). However, if the motion does not raise facts sufficient to entitle the movant to relief, or presents only conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the circuit court has the discretion to grant or deny a hearing. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 310-11; Nelson, 54 Wis. 2d at 497-98. We require the circuit court "to form its independent judgment after a review of the record and pleadings and to support its decision by written opinion." Nelson, 54 Wis. 2d at 498. See Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 318-19 (quoting the same). We review a circuit court's discretionary decisions under the deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard. In re the Commitment of Franklin, 2004 WI 38, P6, 270 Wis. 2d 271, 677 N.W.2d 276;

Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 311.

(emphasis provided) See, also, State v. Love, 2005 WI 116, P27 (Wis. 2005).

B. Jaworski's claim is not controlled by Virlee

The State and the circuit court have consistently contended that this issue is resolved by, *In re Commitment of Virlee*, 2003 WI App 4, ¶ 16, 259 Wis. 2d 718, 727, 657 N.W.2d 106, 11. In *Virlee*, the circuit court modified *Virlee's* sentence after the Chapter 980 petition had already been filed. The court of appeals held that this did not deprive the court of competency to proceed on the Chapter 980 petition. Significantly, though, there was no allegation in *Virlee* that the DOC, or any other state agency, acted in bad faith. Here, Jaworski claims that the DOC did act in bad faith in miscalculating his release date. If this is true, it would violate due process to permit the State take advantage of such misconduct. Thus, a rote application of *Virlee* does not decide the issue.

Here, Jaworski has repeatedly made the claim that the DOC acted in bad faith, and with intent to manipulate the deadline for filing a Chapter 980 petition, in miscalculating his release date. This claim has never been adjudicated by the circuit court. If it is true that the DOC acted in bad faith and with intent to manipulate the deadline for filing a Chapter 980

petition, it would certainly violate due process to permit the State to take advantage of such misconduct.

In every other area of the law, seemingly benign conduct by the state, done in bad faith and with intent to manipulate the system, has been found to violate due process.

For example, where an offense is committed by a juvenile, but the state files charges only after the defendant has turned seventeen⁶, the court must conduct a due process hearing to determine whether the delay in filing charges was done in bad faith.

[W]here the filing is 'delayed in order to avoid juvenile court jurisdiction,' the circuit court can maintain jurisdiction only after a due-process hearing.

We conclude that the hearing referred to in Miller is the hearing to determine whether the delay in charging was in fact occasioned by a deliberate effort to avoid juvenile court jurisdiction.

. .

In *Miller*, *supra*, the district court stated:

'Administrators of a state juvenile system may not manipulate administrative procedures so as to avoid state and constitutional procedural rights and meant to protect juveniles.' (at 766)

It is this manipulation of the system for the purpose of avoiding the juvenile court that is proscribed. Miller does not address itself to situations where the juvenile system is not manipulatively avoided.

State v. Becker, 74 Wis. 2d 675, 677, 247 N.W.2d 495, 496 (1976)

⁶ In other words, after the Children's Court lost jurisdiction

Similarly, where the state has failed to preserve evidence⁷ in a criminal case, if the defendant proves that the state agents acted in bad faith, with intent to manipulate the system, due process requires that the case be dismissed. *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51, 58, 109 S. Ct. 333, 337, 102 L. Ed. 2d 281 (1988).

Finally, where, on the eve of trial, the state charges a defendant's lawyer with crimes in order to deprive the defendant of effective assistance of counsel, due process is violated. *State v. Lettice*, 205 Wis. 2d 347, 351, 556 N.W.2d 376, 378 (Ct. App. 1996)

A common thread that runs through each of these cases is that the state's conduct is seemingly legal and benign. However, because of the serious consequences to the defendant, the court requires a due process hearing to ensure that the state's behavior was not done in bad faith and with an intent to manipulate the system.

In Jaworski's case, an honest mistake in calculating Jaworski's release date would bring the case squarely within the holding of *Virlee*. However, Jaworski's motion alleges that this was not an honest mistake by the DOC. Thus, the court must conduct a due process evidentiary hearing to determine whether the state-- through any of its agencies-- acted in bad faith in calculating Jaworski's release date. If so, due process

13

-

⁷ This is to be distinguished from the failure to preserve exculpatory evidence, which automatically violates due process.

requires the case to be dismissed with prejudice.

C. The factual allegations of Jaworski's motion are sufficient to support the conclusory allegation that the DOC acted in bad faith.

Jaworski's motion is attached as Appendix B. It is not necessary to restate each of the factual allegations. The important allegations of the motion are that Jaworski's release date was improperly calculated, and this was substantiated by the letter from Carol Briones; that had Jaworski's release date been properly calculated, the filing of the Chapter 980 petition would have been untimely; and, finally, Jaworski alleged that the DOC did this deliberately in order to manipulate his release date so as to make the filing of the Chapter 980 petition timely. Admittedly, this last claim is a conclusory allegation. Under Allen, a conclusory allegation must have sufficient supporting factual details alleged to support an inference that the conclusory allegation may be true.

To substantiate his claim that the DOC acted deliberately and in bad faith, Jaworski alleged that the improper recalculation was done as he reached the end of this sentence, and, when Jaworski objected to the recalculated, and pointed out the error, the D.O.C. ignored him. Additionally, Jaworski referred to the Briones letter in which it was stated that, "[T]he Department of Corrections' policy on good time wasn't

followed."

Certainly, these detailed factual allegations, considered together and taken to be true, permit an inference that the DOC acted in bad faith. The timing of the recalculation is suspect. That is, it occurred as Jaworski reached the end of his sentence; which, coincidentally, is also the time when the State must make the decision whether to proceed with the filing of a SVP petition. Moreover, the DOC did not follow its own policy in calculating Jaworski's release date. This fact demands an inference that the DOC acted deliberately. It was not merely a math error. Further, when Jaworski objected to the recalculation, his objections were ignored. Again, this fact demands an inference that the DOC was acting in bad faith. They had not followed their own procedure and, when this was pointed out to them, they refused to correct it.

Certainly, then, the allegations of Jaworski's motion, if taken to be true, are sufficient to support his conclusory allegation that the DOC. acted in bad faith. Under *Allen*, it was mandatory that the circuit court conduct an evidentiary hearing.

C. Additionally, the circuit judge did not assume the factual allegations of Jaworski's motion to be true, and, therefore, the order denying the motion was also based on a mistake of law.

In deciding whether to set a postjudgment motion for

hearing, the circuit judge is required to assume that the allegations of the motion are true. Recall that, in *Allen*, *supra*, the court made clear that the judge must, "[D]etermine whether the motion on its face alleges sufficient material facts that, *if true*, would entitle the defendant to relief. This is a question of law that we review de novo.." *Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 9.

In denying Jaworski an evidentiary hearing, the circuit judge said, "[Y]ou make allegations that they deliberately miscalculated his release date in order to manipulate the deadline for filing a Chapter 980 petition, but you don't give me any-- any reason to believe that allegation, and that's what I need. I need some reason to believe that allegation."

Under the law, though, Jaworski is not required to give the judge a reason to believe his factual allegations. Rather, in deciding whether to set a postjudgment motion for hearing, the judge is required to assume that the factual allegations of the motion are true.

Perhaps what the circuit judge meant to say-- but did not-is that Jaworski was required to make more than a conclusory
allegation that the DOC. acted in bad faith. As set forth in the
preceding section, though, Jaworski did allege sufficient
detailed fact which, if taken as true, would support the
conclusory allegation that the DOC acted in bad faith.

Thus, the circuit court denied Jaworski an evidentiary hearing based on a mistake of law.

Conclusion

For these reasons it is respectfully requested that the court of appeals reverse the circuit court's order denying Jaworski's post-judgment motion, and remand the matter to the circuit court with instructions that the circuit court shall conduct a hearing into Jaworski's post-judgment motion. .