RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **08-12-2016**

COURT OF APPEAL **SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP5

In re the Commitment of Kenneth William Jaworski:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

KENNETH WILLIAM JAWORSKI,

Respondent-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF COMMITMENT AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTJUDGMENT RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, BEFORE THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY WITKOWIAK, PRESIDING

PETITIONER-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Petitioner-Respondent

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

Standard of review. Whether a motion alleges sufficient facts entitling a party to a hearing presents a question of law that an appellate court reviews *de novo*. But an appellate court reviews a circuit court's decision to deny a hearing under a deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *Id.* ¶ 9.

B. General legal principles to the timeliness of filing a ch. 980 petition.

"[C]h. 980 provides for the involuntary commitment of certain individuals who are found to be sexually violent persons. As such, ch. 980 prescribes a detailed procedure that the State must follow in order to commit a sexually violent person." *In re Commitment of Gilbert*, 2012 WI 72, ¶ 22, 342 Wis. 2d 82, 816 N.W.2d 215 (citation omitted).

Under Wis. Stat. § 980.02(2), the State may file a petition alleging that a person is a sexually violent person subject to commitment. Wisconsin Stat. § 980.02(1m) specifies that the State must file the petition "before the person is *released or discharged*." In *In re the Commitment of Stanley*, 2014 WI App 89, 356 Wis. 2d 268, 853 N.W.2d 600

(2014), this Court observed that the words "release" and "discharge" are legal terms of art. *Id.* ¶ 17. It explained that:

"released" means to free a person from confinement in prison, and "discharged" means to free a person from DOC custody status upon completion of the criminal sentence. A person serving a prison sentence is "confined" until he or she is "released" from prison, and the person remains in DOC "custody status" until he or she is "discharged" upon completion of the criminal sentence. Hence, the use of the word "discharge" in a person's maximum "discharge" date corresponds to its use in WIS. STAT. § 980.02(1m), and in both usages the meaning is the completion of the criminal sentence.

Id. ¶ 22 (citation omitted). This Court concluded that Wis. Stat. § 980.02(1m) requires the State to file a petition "either before the person is freed from confinement in prison or before the person's entire sentence is completed." Stanley, 356 Wis. 2d 268, ¶ 23.⁴

⁴ A review of Wis. Stat. § 980.02(1m)'s history reinforces this Court's prior interpretation of this section in *Stanley*. Before the Legislature enacted § 980.02(1m), the State was required to allege and prove that the person was within 90 days of discharge or release on parole. Wis. Stat. § 980.02(2)(ag) (2003-04); see also *In re the Commitment of Byers*, 2003 WI 86, ¶ 14, 263 Wis. 2d 113, 665 N.W.2d 729 (holding that a ch. 980 petition must be filed on or before a person's release or discharge date). Failure to file a petition within the 90 day time period deprived the circuit court of its competency to proceed. *State v. Pharm*, 2000 WI App 167, ¶ 11, 238 Wis. 2d 97, 111, 617 N.W.2d 163.

The Legislature subsequently repealed Wis. Stat. § 980.02(2)(ag) (2003-04), which required the filing within the 90day time period before the release or discharge date. 2005 Wis. Act 434, § 83. In the same act, the Legislature created Wis. Stat. § 980.02(1m) that simply required the State to file the petition before the release or discharge date. Wis. Act 434, § 82. *Gilbert*, 342 Wis. 2d 82, ¶¶ 36-39.

Miscalculation of the release date. Even if DOC miscalculated an inmate's release date, the date of an inmate's actual release from prison is the date that determines whether the State timely filed its petition.

In *Carpenter*, DOC had paroled Carpenter in 1993. *Carpenter*, 197 Wis. 2d at 260. Based on this Court's decision in State ex rel. Parker v. Fiedler, 180 Wis. 2d 438, 509 N.W.2d 440 (Ct. App. 1993), rev'd, State ex rel. Parker v. Sullivan, 184 Wis. 2d 668, 517 N.W.2d 449 (1994), DOC recalculated Carpenter's sentence and reincarcerated him. Carpenter, 197 Wis. 2d at 260. The supreme court subsequently reversed this Court's decision in *Parker* and ordered that all prisoners detained under *Parker* be released on July 15, 1994. Carpenter, 197 Wis. 2d at 260. On July 14, 1994, the State petitioned to commit Carpenter as a sexually violent person under ch. 980. Carpenter challenged the petition's timeliness, contending that the State should have filed its petition when he was first released to parole in 1993. Id. at 261, 275. The Supreme Court rejected this argument, finding that the subsequent recalculation of the release date did not render the previously filed petition untimely. Id.

In Virlee, Virlee asserted that the trial court lost its competency to proceed when it retroactively granted Virlee sentence credit that placed his mandatory release date before the date that the State filed its ch. 980 petition against him. Relying on *Carpenter*, this Court rejected the argument, finding that the State had timely filed its petition before Virlee's "actual release" from prison. A subsequent modification of Virlee's sentence did not change the fact that the State timely filed its petition according to the then-known mandatory release date. *Virlee*, 259 Wis. 2d 718, $\P\P$ 17-18.

Finally, in In re the Commitment of Spaeth, 2014 WI 71, 355 Wis. 2d 761, 850 N.W.2d 93, the supreme court addressed whether a petition "that was sufficient at the time it was filed is invalidated when the conviction recited in the petition is later reversed." Id. ¶ 13. Following a supreme court decision reversing Spaeth's conviction for a sexually violent offense, the State had sought to amend its petition to allege a different, unreversed sexually violent offense. The circuit court denied the motion to amend and dismissed the petition. Id. ¶¶ 8-9. The supreme court reversed. Id. ¶ 15. Relying on Carpenter and Virlee, it held that a court should assess the sufficiency of the petition at the time it was filed. That is, it must determine whether the petition satisfied Wis. Stat. § 980.02's pleading requirements when the State filed the petition. Id. ¶¶ 33, 35.

The time limits for challenging the timeliness of filing a ch. 980 petition. A person challenging the timeliness of a ch. 980 petition must file a motion within 30 days after the court conducts the probable cause hearing. A failure to timely file a motion results in a waiver of the right to challenge the timeliness of the petition's filing. Wis. Stat. § 980.038(1)(a).⁵

⁵ Jaworski orally challenged the timeliness of the petition's filing at the probable cause hearing. (122:49.) But he did not file a motion challenging its timeliness until two years later. (21.) After the circuit court decided the motion (123:4), a DOC employee determined that staff had miscalculated the release date (48:14; 185:3). Under the circumstances, the State will not argue that his motion was untimely.

C. The State's petition was timely filed because the State filed it before Jaworski's discharge date.

Jaworski's appeal focuses on whether the State timely filed its petition before his mandatory release date. He contends that Wis. Stat. § 980.02(1m) requires the State to file its ch. 980 petition "before the person is released from prison." (Jaworski's Br. 5 n.2.) But a petition is timely filed if it is filed before a person is either released from prison *or discharged* from his sentence. Wis. Stat. § 980.02(1m); *Stanley*, 356 Wis. 2d 268, ¶ 23.

If the record demonstrates that the State filed its petition before Jaworski's discharge date, then this Court need not consider whether Jaworski is entitled to a hearing on whether DOC acted in bad faith when it calculated his release date. While neither party nor the circuit court considered whether the State filed the petition before his discharge date, this Court may consider it. *State v. Holt*, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 125, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985) (this Court may affirm a circuit court's ruling on grounds that the circuit court did not consider).

Jaworski has never suggested that the State failed to file the petition before his discharge date. He cannot. On June 18, 1984, the Racine County Circuit sentenced Jaworski to 16 years imprisonment on count one and 7 years imprisonment each on counts two through five. It ordered Jaworski to serve those sentences consecutively to each other, for a total of 44 years. Jaworski only had pretrial incarceration credit of 20 days. (3:1, 5.) The circuit court relied on this sentence computation when it found probable cause on the petition. (11:1.) When Jaworski argued his motions in this case, he acknowledged receiving lengthy sentences for sexually violent offenses. In a motion challenging the timeliness of the State's petition, he acknowledged that "[h]e was convicted and sentenced in 1984 in Racine and Milwaukee County Circuit Courts to a total of forty-seven (47) years in the Wisconsin State Prison System for sexually violent offenses committed in those counties." (21:1.) In a hearing, Jaworski stated:

My sentence was three-and-a-half, 16, 7, 7, 7, 7, so that the part of this case as a whole it can't be taken out because time ran all together as one sentence . . . because you can't exclude that first three-and-a-half years that is the front end of the sentence of the 44 years, or technically 47 and-a-half years.

$(124:34.)^{6}$

Jaworski has never suggested that he has been discharged from his convictions for his sexually violent offenses. Other information suggests that he has not been discharged for these offenses. For example, in a summary of Jaworski's sentences, an evaluator noted that Jaworski's discharge date for the Racine sexual assault convictions was November 27, 2030. (165:5.) Finally, DOC offender locator website reflect that Jaworski's current discharge date is March 11, 2031. Wisconsin Department of Corrections' "Offender Locator," available at http://offender.doc.state.wi.us/lop/home.do (last accessed June 30, 2016); see also Sisson v. Hansen Storage Co., 2008

⁶ When the circuit court sentenced Jaworski to 44 years of imprisonment, it ordered him to serve that sentence consecutive to other sentences. Jaworski had previously been sentenced on a charge of false imprisonment in a prior case. (165:5.)

WI App 111, ¶ 11, 313 Wis. 2d 411, 756 N.W.2d 667 (appellate court may take judicial notice of matters of record in government files under Wis. Stat. § 902.01).

The State filed its ch. 980 petition against Jaworski on March 24, 2006. Based on the record, Jaworski has not yet been discharged from his sentences that were imposed as a result of his convictions for sexually violent offenses. The record demonstrates that Jaworski is not entitled to relief. The circuit court did not err when it declined to grant him a hearing. *See Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 9.

D. Jaworski's motion did not allege sufficient facts to entitle him to a hearing on his claim of bad faith.

Acknowledging *Virlee*'s applicability to ch. 980 cases when DOC errs in calculating a release date, Jaworski concedes that DOC's miscalculation of the mandatory release date does not, by itself, entitle him to the relief that he seeks. Instead, he asserts that *Virlee* does not apply to his case because *Virlee* did not include an allegation that DOC acted in bad faith and violated his due process rights when it calculated his mandatory release date. (Jaworski's Br. 11.) Jaworski contends that the circuit court erred when it did not grant him a hearing to explore his assertion that DOC manipulated his release. (Jaworski's Br. 14.)

This Court must assess whether Jaworski's postcommitment motion alleges sufficient facts entitling him to an evidentiary hearing. Based on Jaworski's claims in his postcommitment motion and other evidence in the record, the State assumes the following assertions to be true for purposes of reviewing his claim:

- The State filed its ch. 980 petition against Jaworski on March 24, 2006; (184:4.)
- When the petition was filed, DOC calculated his mandatory release date as April 1, 2006, and his actual release date as March 28, 2006; (184:4; 211:37-38.)
- DOC employee Carol Briones later determined that DOC staff made two errors when it calculated Jaworski's release dates. One error related to inconsistent data on a security card and file information. With respect to the second error, Briones stated that DOC's policy on good time was not followed; (48:14.)
- Based on additional sentence calculation data accompanying Briones' note, it appears that Jaworski would have been released sooner, perhaps as early as January 10, 2006, a difference of 75 days from his actual release date of March 28, 2006. (48:17.)

This information would support Jaworski's claim that DOC miscalculated the release date and that the ch. 980 petition was not filed until after he should have been released.

But Jaworski makes one additional assertion: DOC deliberately manipulated his release date to make the filing of the ch. 980 petition timely. Jaworski offers no facts in support of this assertion. He readily acknowledges that this claim is a "conclusory allegation." But he contends that under *Allen* a conclusory allegation supported by factual details entitles him to a hearing. (Jaworski's Br. 14.) The

State disagrees. *Allen* unequivocally states that a conclusory allegation alone is insufficient to entitle a person to a hearing. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, $\P\P$ 9, 12, 15.

More importantly, the facts as alleged here do not support an inference that DOC acted in bad faith with an eye toward manipulating Jaworski's release date to facilitate the ch. 980 filing again him. The form itself was prepared on October 20, 2005. (3:16.) This was well before the earliest date that he would have been released, January 10, 2006, and would have provided sufficient time for DOC to conduct an evaluation and complete a report had the form indicated an earlier release date.⁷ Jaworski has identified no incentive for DOC to miscalculate his release date. Had DOC properly calculated the release date as Jaworski believes that DOC should have calculated it, DOC would simply have scheduled his ch. 980 evaluation sooner, before the properly calculated release date.

Further, the record also reflects that good time calculations and release dates are not always easily determined. Briones explained that the miscalculations stemmed in part from the way good time computations occurred for offenders sentenced under the "old law" and how policies governing those calculations were discontinued.⁸ (48:14.) DOC employee Mary Martin noted

⁷ The DOC evaluator conducted the evaluation on February 14, 2006, and completed his report by February 22, 2006. (119:1.)

⁸ Jaworski would have been sentenced under the "old law." (211:33-34.) See also State ex rel. Hauser v. Carballo, 82 Wis. 2d 51, 57, 261 N.W.2d 133 (1978) (discussing good time and release calculation under the "old law"). This framework for determining parole eligibility and mandatory release changed with the enactment of 1983 Wis. Act 528 and 1983 Wis. Act 66 - the "new law."

that younger DOC employees are less familiar with "old law" calculations. (211:34.) She also explained how the release date may be recalculated depending on the loss of certain types of good time. (211:35.) At best, the record suggests that a DOC employee made a mistake when he or she calculated Jaworski's release date. It hardly supports an inference that DOC officials acted in bad faith with an eye toward manipulating Jaworski's release date to facilitate a ch. 980 petition.

On its face, Jaworski's motion simply does not allege sufficient material facts to meaningfully assess his claim. See Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 23. In a hearing to determine whether to schedule an evidentiary hearing on his motion, the circuit court asked Jaworski to provide it with "some possibility that [the motion] is going to succeed." (221:3.) Jaworksi replied that the only information he had appears in the allegations in his motion. The circuit court observed that Jaworski provided him with no reason to believe his allegation that DOC deliberately miscalculated his release date to manipulate the deadline for filing the ch. 980 petition. (Id. at 4.) Under the circumstances, the circuit court appropriately denied Jaworski's motion without an evidentiary hearing.

E. Jaworski is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing simply because he believes that DOC staff acted in bad faith.

Jaworski seeks to differentiate his case from *Virlee* because *Virlee* did not address a claim that DOC deliberately miscalculated his release date in violation of his due process rights. He relies on several other types of cases in other contexts to suggest he is entitled to a due process hearing.

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